A ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Plant Biology Epigenetic Regulation During Plant Development and the Capacity for Epigenetic Memory

Elizabeth A. Hemenway^{1,2} and Mary Gehring^{1,2}

¹Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA; email: hemenway@wi.mit.edu, mgehring@wi.mit.edu

²Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2023. 74:87-109

First published as a Review in Advance on February 28, 2023

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-070122-025047

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media



Keywords

epigenetic, histone modifications, DNA methylation, transposable elements, development, heat stress responses

Abstract

The establishment, maintenance, and removal of epigenetic modifications provide an additional layer of regulation, beyond genetically encoded factors, by which plants can control developmental processes and adapt to the environment. Epigenetic inheritance, while historically referring to information not encoded in the DNA sequence that is inherited between generations, can also refer to epigenetic modifications that are maintained within an individual but are reset between generations. Both types of epigenetic inheritance occur in plants, and the functions and mechanisms distinguishing the two are of great interest to the field. Here, we discuss examples of epigenetic dynamics and maintenance during selected stages of growth and development and their functional consequences. Epigenetic states are also dynamic in response to stress, with consequences for transposable element regulation. How epigenetic resetting between generations occurs during normal development and in response to stress is an emerging area of research.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	88
MECHANISMS FOR ESTABLISHING, MAINTAINING,	
AND REMOVING EPIGENETIC MODIFICATIONS	89
DNA Methylation	89
Histone Modifications and Variants	90
Genomic Context and DNA Methylation Stability	91
EPIGENETIC REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT	
OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT	92
Potential for Transmission of Epigenetic Memory Through Stem	
Cell Populations	93
Epigenetic Dynamics Through the Germline	94
Epigenetic Dynamics in Seed Development	95
Intraindividual Maintenance of Silencing	96
Epigenetic Dynamics Through Callus and Regeneration	97
Roles of DNA Methylation During Development	98
EVIDENCE (OR LACK OF EVIDENCE) FOR EPIGENETIC RESPONSE	
TO ABIOTIC STRESSORS ON MULTIPLE TIMESCALES	98

— INTRODUCTION

Plants undergo continuous development over their lifetime. This process involves the generation of new organs and tissues and key transitions from vegetative to reproductive growth. Most aspects of plant development, for example flowering and seed germination, are both genetically driven and highly responsive to environmental cues (23, 60). The extent and function of epigenetic dynamics throughout plant growth and development are major questions of interest.

The term epigenetic describes heritable information not encoded in DNA. By the strictest definition, heritability refers to information that is passed from parent to progeny through meiosis. However, in the context of epigenetic inheritance, the term has also been frequently adopted to refer to epigenetic information that is inherited from one cell division to the next within an individual. In this review, we consider both intraindividual and intergenerational epigenetic inheritance. For an epigenetic modification to be inherited across generations in plants (i.e., intergenerationally), it must be maintained through cell divisions in tissues from which a germline will be established. In this way, epigenetic information can be maintained over both developmental and generational timescales. Epigenetic information is also dynamic, with modifications being added and removed in distinct cell and tissue types in different developmental contexts, as well in response to certain environmental conditions. It has thus been useful to contrast static epigenetic states that are maintained faithfully over cell divisions with dynamic epigenetic modifications that are gained and lost in different conditions or at programmed points in development (88, 150). The ability of epigenetic information to be both static and dynamic on multiple timescales presents the possibility for the memory of a perceived stimulus, such as a stressor, to be passed on to progeny through heritable epigenetic modifications. Epigenetic transmission of a memory of a stressor to the next generation could benefit fitness if the next generation is likely to experience the same stress. However, such a memory could come with potential costs, for example, if the environment changes or a stress response is no longer needed. Therefore, a mechanism whereby a plant could

Epigenetic dynamics:

differences in epigenetic state observed between generations, tissues, cells, or stages of development, depending on context

Epigenetic: heritable information not encoded in the DNA sequence

Intraindividual epigenetic inheritance:

epigenetic modification is maintained for a period of development, but is reset between generations

Intergenerational epigenetic inheritance: stable passage of epigenetic modifications between generations

maintain an epigenetic modification through growth and development (i.e., intraindividually) but reset it between generations could be beneficial in some circumstances.

MECHANISMS FOR ESTABLISHING, MAINTAINING, AND REMOVING EPIGENETIC MODIFICATIONS

Multiple integrated, redundant, and self-reinforcing pathways and mechanisms contribute to a cell's or plant's epigenetic state. Different combinations of epigenetic pathway activity contribute to tissue-specific differences or dynamics. Here, we provide a brief overview of some of the key mechanisms that promote the stable maintenance of epigenetic states and those that affect epigenetic changes.

DNA Methylation

Addition of a methyl group to the 5' carbon of cytosine, referred to as DNA methylation, is a common epigenetic feature of eukaryotic genomes. DNA methylation represses potentially harmful genomic elements, such as repeat sequences and transposable elements (TEs), and also transcriptionally regulates genes. DNA methylation in gene promoters typically represses gene expression, although notable exceptions exist (81, 151). In plants, 5-methylcytosine (5-mC) can be present in the CHH, CHG, and CG sequence contexts (where H is any base except a G). Co-occurrence of CG and non-CG methylation typically occurs in TEs and other repeat-derived or related sequences. CG-only methylation is found in some gene bodies, particularly those of longer genes with moderate expression (169). 5-mC is added de novo primarily through a small RNA (sRNA)based pathway known as RNA-directed DNA methylation (RdDM) (32, 95). Canonically, this process begins by transcription of the target locus by the plant-specific RNA polymerase IV (Pol IV), producing RNAs that are converted to double-stranded RNAs (dsRNAs) by RNAdependent RNA polymerase 2 (RDR2). These dsRNAs are cleaved primarily into 24-nucleotide (nt) sRNAs, but also 21- and 22-nt sRNAs, by Dicer-like proteins (DCL2 or DCL3) and loaded into an ARGONAUTE protein (AGO4 or AGO6) (32, 105). This complex then directs de novo DNA methylation by the methyltransferase DRM2 through association with transcripts being produced by another plant-specific RNA polymerase, Pol V. Variations on the RdDM pathway may contribute to unique targeting. The CLASSY family of chromatin remodelers facilitate Pol IV localization and have recently been shown to contribute to tissue-specific DNA methylation patterns (89, 166). RdDM is crucial for asymmetric CHH methylation establishment and maintenance, especially in euchromatic regions (160, 164). RNA polymerase II (Pol II)-dependent transcripts, such as those transcribed from inverted repeats, can direct DNA methylation through noncanonical RdDM as well (25). The maintenance methyltransferase MET1 maintains DNA methylation in the symmetric CG context. MET1 is recruited to the DNA replication fork by VIM proteins and methylates the newly synthesized DNA strand based on the pattern of CG methylation on the parent strand (71, 153). CMT2 and CMT3 encode chromodomain-containing methyltransferases and contribute to the maintenance of DNA methylation in the CHH and CHG contexts (43, 85, 136). Genes involved in maintenance methylation are more highly expressed in cells that are dividing and are repressed in mature leaf tissue by TCX5 and TCX6, which are components of the DREAM complex, thus preventing DNA hypermethylation in this tissue (100).

Active DNA demethylation in plants is accomplished by a family of 5-mC DNA glycosylases that remove 5-mC by initiating base excision repair. The four *Arabidopsis* DNA demethylases are DME, ROS1, DML2, and DML3. While the genes are partially redundant, they have distinct target loci and expression patterns (85, 104, 110, 130, 149). *DME* expression in the central cell

Transposable elements (TEs):

DNA sequences that are or once were able to move around the genome; different categories of TEs are defined based on the mechanism of transposition Heterochromatin: silenced regions of DNA, molecularly characterized by the prevalence of repressive histone marks and DNA methylation of the female gametophyte is essential during reproductive development for seed viability (21). In rice, four DNA glycosylases have been identified, three of which have been shown to demethylate DNA at partially distinct target sites (72, 167). Maize homologs of *DME—ZmROS1a* and *ZmROS1b/MDR1*—have been shown to prevent DNA hypermethylation at specific target sites in endosperm (42, 157). Maize plants that are mutant for both *DNG102*, another maize *DME* homolog, and *ZmROS1b/MDR1* fail to make viable seed (42). DNA glycosylases are typically thought to identify and excise DNA lesions by scanning the DNA (61). Several studies in *Arabidopsis* have suggested a role for histone interactions in targeting 5-mC DNA glycosylases. The histone acetyltransferase IDM1 promotes ROS1-mediated DNA demethylation at many loci, and correspondingly many TEs targeted by ROS1 are enriched in H3K18Ac and related histone modifications (118, 139). DME activity is facilitated by association with histone H1 as well as chromatin remodeling by the FACT complex (54, 122). Shared target sites of DME and FACT are enriched in heterochromatin markers H3K9me2 and H3K27me1 (38).

Histone Modifications and Variants

In eukaryotes, DNA is wrapped around histone protein octamers, and interactions between histones and other proteins package the DNA into chromatin. Histone tails can be modified, which alters chromatin state and can make DNA more or less accessible for transcription and other processes. There are many enzymes that add and remove histone modifications; more comprehensive reviews can be found elsewhere (18, 27, 112). Here, we focus primarily on histone 3 lysine residue methylation.

Methylation of H3K9 and H3K27 is associated with gene silencing and constitutive and facultative heterochromatin. The histone methyltransferase KRYPTONITE (KYP) methylates histone 3 lysine 9 (H3K9) and recognizes non-CG DNA methylation as target sites for methylating histones (29). The CMT2 and CMT3 maintenance methyltransferases in turn bind H3K9 and use it as a mark for where to methylate DNA. This feedback loop helps maintain the heterochromatic state, especially in pericentromeric regions (29, 30). Expression of the H3K9 demethylase *IBM1* is regulated epigenetically, by both H3K9me2 and DNA methylation within an intron of the gene (124). One of the plant PcG protein complexes, Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2), catalyzes H3 lysine 27 methylation. In Arabidopsis, CLF, SWN, and MEA are H3K27 methyltransferases that are included in distinct PRC2 complexes and play important roles in regulating key developmental transitions, as has been reviewed extensively elsewhere (51). Additionally, PRC1 catalyzes monoubiquitination of histone H2A, contributing to transcriptional silencing both independently and at PRC2 target sites (51). H3K27 methylation is removed by Jumonji-type histone demethylases. In this review, we refer specifically to ELF6 and REF6, two of the H3K27 demethylases that have been shown to affect Arabidopsis development (24, 90). Binding of the H3K27me3 demethylase REF6 to DNA is inhibited by DNA methylation (119).

Briefly, there are other modifications that can affect transcription and chromatin state. H3K4 and H3K36 methylation has been shown to either promote or repress transcription, depending on how many methyl groups are added (156, 161). Histone acetylation, deposited by histone acetyltransferases, usually marks active chromatin and is found near transcribed regions (112).

Variants of the core histones can be found in different regions of chromatin, different stages of development, and cells that are in different stages of the cell cycle (137). Some H3 variants cannot be efficiently modified by PRC2, contributing to the remodeling of chromatin state during specific stages of development (8, 158). Histone variant H1 restricts RdDM activity from heterochromatic regions, highlighting another example of the interwovenness of different epigenetic pathways (20).



Figure 1

Interpreting intermediately CG-methylated regions. The stability of DNA methylation patterning shows some dependency on the surrounding genomic and epigenomic context. Depending on the parameters of the study, genomic regions are defined and levels of cytosine methylation are averaged across each region. All cytosines in region A are methylated across all sequencing reads; this region is highly methylated. In region B, all cytosines are fractionally methylated: In some reads the cytosine is methylated, and in others it is not. This region would likely be designated as intermediately methylated, depending on how intermediate is defined. Cytosines in region C are either completely methylated or completely unmethylated, as indicated by the supporting sequencing data. If a strict average of methylation across this region was taken, this region would also be defined as intermediately methylated.

Genomic Context and DNA Methylation Stability

Methylation in the CG context is most abundant in plant genomes relative to methylation in other sequence contexts and, as previously discussed, is maintained by MET1. However, recent work has added complexity to our understanding of the inheritance of CG methylation in plants. For most bulk methylation sequencing studies, the methylation status of a given cytosine is calculated as the percentage of total sequencing reads that indicate that the cytosine is methylated. Averaging these values across a defined number of base pairs represents the methylation level of a given region, although the exact methods vary depending on the study. If most CG pairs in a region are highly methylated, that region would be considered highly CG methylated (**Figure 1**, region A). If most CGs in a region are intermediately methylated (**Figure 1**, region B) or there is a mixture of more highly methylated and more lowly methylated, depending on the parameters of the study. Note that the two types of intermediate methylation have distinct underlying features. Recent work suggests that intergenerational changes observed at regions of intermediate to low levels of CG methylation reflect the integrated activity of different DNA methylation pathways.

Methylation of individual CGs within TEs and heterochromatic regions, which are usually highly methylated and accompanied by non-CG methylation, is maintained with greater fidelity over generations than CG methylation of protein-coding genes (6, 128, 145). Furthermore, changes in the CG methylation status of a region accumulate at a higher rate over generations than non-CG methylation status changes (28). Correlating changes in region-level CG methylation over generations with available chromatin state annotation data demonstrated that the stability of CG methylation status is correlated with genome annotation and observed chromatin structure of the same region in other experiments (28, 47). Hotspots for dynamic CG methylation

status are found most prevalently in regions with gene body methylation (gbM) and also contain regions that are intermediately CG methylated, here defined as regions with an average CG methylation level between 20% and 80% (47). In recombinant-inbred lines (RILs) between ecotypes of *Arabidopsis* that differ in their levels of gbM, sites that lost or gained methylation were more likely to occur in genic regions with intermediate to low levels of CG methylation and low levels of non-CG methylation in the parent (113).

In mutants of all four *Arabidopsis* DNA demethylases (*drdd*), where *DME* expression is supplied in the central cell to avoid seed lethality, hypermethylation in leaves occurs in multiple sequence contexts (149). Most hypermethylation occurs in putative RdDM targets, but there are many additional targets that are hypermethylated in only the CG context. In wild type, these regions are largely intermediately methylated, defined as 5–50% methylation (149). Regions defined by Hazarika et al. (47) as hotspots for dynamic CG methylation also correlate fairly strongly with regions that are CG hypermethylated in a *drdd* mutant background, suggesting a role for DNA demethylases in the dynamic CG methylation status observed in these regions of the genome.

Recent work has suggested that when maintenance methylation activity is inhibited, such as in a double mutant of histone *H1* and the chromatin remodeler *DDM1*, de novo CG methylation by the RdDM pathway is important for intergenerational maintenance of resulting intermediate CG methylation levels in heterochromatic regions. These findings propose a previously unknown role of the RdDM pathway in preventing the degradation of CG methylation patterning in heterochromatin under some conditions (91).

Based on the available evidence, regions with intermediate levels of CG methylation as measured by bulk sequencing methods represent regions of dynamic DNA methylation and demethylation over generations. These regions are enriched in protein-coding gene bodies and depleted in TEs and heterochromatin, where additional pathways may be stabilizing CG methylation. How the opposing effects of DNA methylation and demethylation pathways can affect the stability of CG methylation at these regions during development and over generational time will be an interesting future area of research.

EPIGENETIC REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT

The extent and function of epigenetic dynamics throughout development and during developmental transitions have been perennial questions of interest. DNA methylation patterning and chromatin state are highly heritable between generations, suggesting that epigenetic state is maintained through the population of cells that contribute to reproduction, perhaps in combination with genetic encoding of targeting mechanisms. Wild-type siblings segregated from some DNA methylation mutants do not regain the original methylation state, implying the need for methylation state to be inherited rather than being strictly genetically targeted (36, 66, 123, 141). Distinct epigenomic patterns in different tissues and at different stages point to the occurrence of epigenetic dynamics through growth and development even when direct developmental phenotypes are not observed in epigenetic mutants (88). Understanding the mechanisms that underlie epigenetic dynamics as well as those that support intraindividual epigenetic memory will provide a more complete understanding of any roles of epigenetics in development and how targeting of epigenetic modifications occurs. In this section, we highlight some examples of epigenetic dynamics through development, focusing on tissues that would promote intergenerational epigenetic memory. Examples of epigenetic regulation of developmental processes are also discussed.

Potential for Transmission of Epigenetic Memory Through Stem Cell Populations

Stem cells are defined by their ability to both replenish stem cell populations and generate other cell types, contributing to differentiated tissue development. In plants, stem cells reside in meristems. Primary apical meristems arise during embryogenesis and contain the initial stem cell populations in the root and shoot, providing differentiated cells for upward and downward growth of the plant. All reproductive cell types of the plant arise from shoot apical meristem (SAM)-derived tissues. Under the proper environmental and developmental conditions, the vegetative SAM will transition to an inflorescence meristem, which will then give rise to floral meristems. The current understanding of molecular mechanisms establishing and maintaining the SAM is mostly from work in Arabidopsis, where it is maintained by feedback loops with the transcription factor WUSCHEL (WUS) and the regulatory peptide CLAVATA3 (CLV3) (33, 144). The central zone of the meristem contains the pluripotent stem cell niche. Surrounding regions regulate the proliferation of stem cells into peripheral tissues. Spatially and temporally restricted gene expression is critical for proper SAM and floral meristem development, as well as downstream cell patterning. Important regulators of flowering time and flower development are targets of the PRC2 complex in Arabidopsis seedlings (12, 22, 23, 155). Often this regulation involves transcription factors. For example, chromatin remodeling ATPases, directed by the pioneer transcription factor LEAFY, counteract silencing by the CLF-PRC2 complex and promote proper floral patterning (64, 155).

The SAM includes cells that will ultimately be incorporated into the plant germline, meaning that the genomic integrity of these proliferating cells is likely critical. Additionally, this means that for both intraindividual and intergenerational epigenetic memory to exist, epigenetic information should be maintained through the SAM (**Figure 2**).

Data from several plant species suggest that genes involved in epigenetic silencing pathways are more highly expressed in shoot meristem tissue relative to various nonmeristem tissues (5, 103, 127, 152). This may in part simply reflect the fact that the meristem is enriched in dividing cells compared to nonmeristematic tissue. Despite the upregulation of epigenetic silencing pathways in the meristem, TEs are expressed and even upregulated in shoot meristems of maize, *Arabidopsis*, and rice (45, 87, 103, 138). In maize, most TEs are repressed by RdDM activity in the SAM, but not all, and some TEs even display RdDM-dependent expression (63, 103). One hypothesis to explain these seemingly opposing findings is that TE expression in some cells promotes silencing of TEs in cells that are fated for germline incorporation (94). Another nonexclusive hypothesis is that expression of TEs in the SAM is a consequence of host–TE dynamics. TEs may have evolved mechanisms to evade silencing in the meristem and thereby promote their transmission to the next generation.

Stem cells in the *Arabidopsis* SAM express *CLV3*, while nonstem cells do not. Gutzat et al. (45) took advantage of this specificity to observe epigenetic and transcriptional differences between stem cells (*CLV3*+) and nonstem cells (*CLV3*-) in the *Arabidopsis* SAM at vegetative and reproductive stages of development. TE expression is increased in *CLV3*+ cells relative to *CLV3*- cells, which correlates with DNA methylation in the CHG context during early vegetative development. These data do not support the model that TE silencing in stem cells is required for genome integrity. In fact, TE expression, whether indicative of host programming or TE escape of host silencing, is occurring in stem cells. In rice whole-SAM samples, CHH methylation at the ends of genes and TEs is slightly higher in the reproductive SAM than in the vegetative SAM or leaf tissue (50). Altogether, DNA methylation is dynamic in shoot meristems, but the effect of DNA methylation on TE and gene expression in this tissue is unclear. Future work with techniques such as single-cell methylome profiling in the SAM could clarify (*a*) the role, if any, of dynamic

Pluripotent:

the ability of a cell or tissue to form many different cell types through differentiation



Figure 2

Epigenetic memory on different timescales. For epigenetic states to be maintained through generations, the relevant information needs to be transmitted through all relevant developmental phases, depicted here. Resetting of an epigenetic state between generations occurs in most instances of epigenetic response to a stimulus, an example being temperature stimulus and *FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC)* silencing. Figure prepared by Jen Cook-Chrysos.

DNA methylation in the SAM; (*b*) if DNA methylation patterning in the differentiating cells of the SAM is reflective of the fated mature cell types; and (*c*) how epigenetic information is maintained intraindividually through developmental trajectories in the SAM, as well as in reproductive meristems.

Epigenetic Dynamics Through the Germline

For epigenetic information to be transmitted intergenerationally, cells that are incorporated into the germline should maintain the relevant information. In plants, there are losses and gains of epigenetic marks throughout reproductive development, but there is no global erasure of DNA methylation patterning as in animals (40). Additionally, the germline in plants is not established during early development. Instead, cells are specified from ovule primordium and inside anthers to undergo meiosis after the transition to flowering occurs. Ultimately, these cells derive from the SAM (**Figure 2**).

The female germline begins to form when the megaspore mother cell (MMC) undergoes meiosis. Heterochromatin is decondensed during specification of the MMC (131, 132). In *Arabidopsis*, CHH methylation decreases prior to MMC specification but is subsequently restored (56). During male germline formation, the microspore mother cell (MiMC) has high levels of CG and CHG methylation and low CHH methylation, along with unusual regions of local CHH

hypermethylation in genes (146). A mature pollen grain contains two haploid sperm nuclei and a diploid vegetative cell, which will develop into a pollen tube to reach the ovule for fertilization. These sister nuclei have distinct epigenetic states. *DME* and *ROS1* are expressed and active in the vegetative nucleus (VN) of the male gametophyte (pollen grain) but are not detected in sperm, and *DDM1* and *MET1* are expressed in the sperm but not the VN (10, 129). Together these enzymes are responsible for the relative CG hypomethylation of the VN (15, 53). Sperm are CHH hypomethylated relative to the VN (52). Similar methylation dynamics between sperm and the VN have also been observed in rice, suggesting conservation of mechanism (72). Loss of H3K9me2 occurs in the VN, including in pericentromeric regions, and many of these regions of open chromatin are also targets of DME, specifically near protein-coding genes (9). While there is currently no evidence for global erasure of DNA methylation during germline formation, and in fact DNA methylation is reinforced in the male germline (141), there are data suggesting that histone modifications are partially reprogrammed. During sperm differentiation, H3K27me3 is both removed through active demethylation and lost through replacement of histone H3 with the sperm-specific variant H3.10, which is not effectively modified by PRC2 (8).

The movement of noncoding sRNAs between cell types during gametogenesis, and any resulting effects on DNA methylation and transcription, has been debated. Evidence is emerging that sRNAs expressed in the tapetum, a secretory tissue of the anther that supports pollen development, affect DNA methylation in meiocytes. In *Arabidopsis*, Pol IV–derived 24-nt sRNAs are expressed from transposons in the tapetal cells. These small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) accumulate in the meiocytes, directing DNA methylation at homologous TEs as well as at genes with similar sequences (89). Supporting this model, deletion of the TEs from which the siRNAs are expressed results in loss of DNA methylation at the corresponding genes in male meiocytes (89). A similar mechanism seems to be occurring in maize, where Pol II–derived 24-nt sRNAs produced in maize tapetal cells accumulate in meiotic cells, suggesting that transport between cells may be occurring (168).

Epigenetic Dynamics in Seed Development

Seeds are the product of plant reproduction, from which progeny will continue to develop. A typical angiosperm seed is composed of an embryo and a nutritive tissue called the endosperm, both of which are encased in the maternally derived seed coat (**Figure 2**). Both the embryo and endosperm are products of fertilization. The diploid central cell is fertilized by a sperm cell to ultimately form the triploid endosperm common to most flowering plants, while the other sperm fertilizes the egg cell to form the zygote, which develops through embryogenesis.

Embryogenesis. Embryogenesis is a critical stage in the life cycle when the SAM and root apical meristem are established. Early stages of embryogenesis are characterized by rapid cell division; thus, rapid maintenance or reinforcement of DNA methylation states requires active methyltransferase pathways. DNA methylation, although dynamic during embryogenesis, is highly heritable from one generation to the next. CHG and CHH methylation levels increase over early embryogenesis, while CG methylation levels are overall stably maintained over this same period but increased in pericentromeric heterochromatic TEs (11, 67, 83, 107). The RdDM pathway is active during seed development in *Arabidopsis*, soybean, and chickpeas, and likely contributes to these dynamics (1, 11, 67, 121). *Arabidopsis* embryos produce high levels of 24-nt sRNAs (31, 106) that reinforce TE methylation and silencing (106). As an example of RdDM activity during embryogenesis, de novo methylation of an unmethylated, naive *FWA* promoter transgene, which contains direct repeats, occurs in early embryogenesis and is also dependent on *MET1* (65). Indeed, *MET1*, accessory proteins, and *CMT3* are highly expressed in early embryos (106, 107). CHG methylation is increased in flower buds and embryos compared to leaves but decreases in late embryogenesis, subsequent to miRNA-driven cleavage of CMT3 transcripts (107, 117, 149). If repression of CMT3 in mid-embryogenesis is prevented, protein-coding genes become ectopically hypermethylated. This embryonic hypermethylation persists to at least 3 weeks after seed germination, highlighting the capacity for embryonic events, once initiated, to be maintained at later stages of the life cycle and the need to tightly control the expression of methylation machinery (107). After seed germination, CHH methylation levels in particular decrease (11, 67).

Endosperm and gene imprinting. The other product of fertilization, the endosperm, is a nutritive tissue that provides resources for the embryo and regulates seed germination, among other functions. The endosperm is the site of gene imprinting, or biased expression of either the maternal allele [a maternally expressed imprinted gene (MEG)] or the paternal allele [a paternally expressed imprinted gene (PEG)] (40). Understanding the mechanisms of gene imprinting is informative for understanding how developmentally programmed epigenetic modifications are implemented and maintained. Gene imprinting is established, at least in part, by differential epigenetic patterning initiated in the gametes before fertilization, some of which has already been described. The 5-mC DNA glycosylase DME is active in the central cell, and a subset of imprinted genes is associated with DME-dependent hypomethylation on maternally inherited alleles in the endosperm (115). Homologs of DME in rice and maize have also been implicated in gene imprinting (108, 125, 157). Both MEGs and PEGs are associated with DME-dependent hypomethylation of the maternal allele. Thus, for PEGs, DNA methylation actually promotes transcription (93, 116). Maternal allele silencing of PEGs is maintained by PRC2-directed H3K27 methylation and CHG methylation on the maternal allele (75, 99). Members of the PRC2 complex are themselves targets of DME and are MEGs in Arabidopsis, rice, and maize (19, 26, 41). There are now several examples of imprinted genes regulating other imprinted genes, highlighting the dynamic, layered transcriptional network created by epigenetic regulation of transcription factors and epigenetic regulators (4). A recent study has shown that imprinting is heterogeneous among different endosperm domains, suggesting that distinct epigenetic dynamics may occur among domains after fertilization (114). Future research in both Arabidopsis and other species could uncover how region-specific and timepoint-specific mechanisms of imprinting in the endosperm are established and maintained. Additionally, understanding how genes become imprinted de novo could provide insight into mechanisms of stable but developmentally transient epigenetic changes.

Intraindividual Maintenance of Silencing

Detailed studies on the control of flowering time in *Arabidopsis* have illustrated the need for a balance between intraindividual epigenetic memory and intergenerational epigenetic erasure (23, 96). A critical decision point in plant development is the transition from vegetative to reproductive growth. Flowering time regulation in *Arabidopsis* is centered around the activity of the MADS-box transcription factor *FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC)*, whose expression inhibits flowering. In vernalization-sensitive strains of *Arabidopsis*, prolonged cold exposure or, more precisely, the absence of warmth, represses *FLC* expression (162). *FLC* remains stably repressed upon the return to warmth, and plants are licensed to flower. *FLC* silencing occurs in multiple phases: The initial silencing of *FLC* is achieved through different mechanisms than the stable maintenance of the silent state. *FLC* is initially transcriptionally silenced through the activity of sense and antisense noncoding RNAs at *FLC* that are induced by cold temperatures (163). Epigenetic switching is then driven by H3K27me3 deposition at a short 3-nucleosome region downstream of the transcriptional start site, a process referred to as nucleation. The fraction of *FLC* copies that are nucleated is dependent on the length of cold exposure (7, 96). Nucleation requires the transcriptional repressor VAL1,

which interacts with protein complexes ASAP and PRC1 (97, 120). After the return to warmth, VELs, which are Polycomb accessory proteins, facilitate H3K27me3 deposition by PRC2 beyond the nucleation site. This causes long-term stable *FLC* silencing, which is maintained over cell divisions through the reproductive life of the plant (69, 159). *FLC* regulation is an example of a digital epigenetic switch: The switch from transcriptionally active to silent happens for each allele in each cell in a stochastic, all-or-nothing, cell-autonomous manner after the initial signal (2, 7).

Because each generation of plant must flower at the right time given its environmental conditions, the epigenetic status of *FLC* must be reset, or forgotten, each generation. There is evidence that this occurs during embryogenesis and is mediated by the H3K27me3 demethylase ELF6 and the embryonic transcription factor LEC1, although this process is less understood than the mechanisms that establish and maintain silencing (23, 140).

The *FLC* example provides an interesting model for how a gene could be stably silenced epigenetically through a low-probability off switch but reset between generations (**Figure 2**). Other examples of PRC2 targets that are silenced through a similar mechanism have been identified (96). Future work applying what has been learned through the study of the *FLC* epigenetic switch to other genes will be valuable in understanding why some epigenetic modifications become heritable from parent to progeny while others are reset.

Epigenetic Dynamics Through Callus and Regeneration

Plants have a significant capacity to regenerate tissue. After wounding or in vitro, mature tissue can be induced to develop a pluripotent tissue known as callus (33, 35, 55). Agricultural research and transgenics rely heavily on the capacity of mature plant tissue to form callus, which can be induced to generate root and shoot tissue using different ratios of plant hormones. Additionally, cultured plant tissue can be induced to undergo somatic embryogenesis (35).

Alterations to histone modifications have been shown to play important roles in callus formation and regeneration in response to wounding as well as in culture. Many genes that are induced in response to wounding are marked by histone acetylation, and disruption of histone acetyltransferase activity inhibits callus formation after wounding (126). Decreased levels of H3K27me3 caused by the displacement of histone H3 have been observed in response to wounding in roots and hypocotyls, promoting callus formation (158). Mutation of PRC2 components results in the dedifferentiation of seedling tissue and abnormal developmental phenotypes (12, 17, 74). In vitro, PRC2 is required for callus production from leaf. H3K27me3 levels at a subset of transcription factors and metabolism-related genes are altered in leaf-derived callus relative to leaf tissue (48). Histone demethylases have also been shown to regulate callus formation and shoot regeneration. For example, JMJ30 promotes callus formation from leaf by removing H3K9me3 from genes that drive root primordia identity (79). *LDL3* is expressed in meristems and lateral root primordia and promotes shoot regeneration from callus in *Arabidopsis* by removing H3K4me2 from some shoot-promoting genes, priming those genes for later activation (57).

DNA methylation changes have been observed as a result of culturing plant tissue. The tissue used to generate the culture, as well as culturing methods, likely has an effect on the epigenome (147). In maize and rice callus, CHH methylation levels are generally increased, while CG and CHG methylation levels are generally reduced, relative to leaf tissue (46, 135). In rice, this loss of DNA methylation is maintained in the regenerated plant and is largely heritable through sexual reproduction over multiple generations (135). CHH hypermethylation also occurs during somatic embryogenesis from immature cotyledons in soybean, likely through the upregulation of RdDM components (62). In *Arabidopsis*, changes in DNA methylation generated through somatic embryogenesis are also heritably transmitted through subsequent generations of sexual reproduction (147).

Dedifferentiation: increasing the pluripotency of a cell or tissue Global DNA methylation changes impact tissue dedifferentiation and shoot regeneration in *Arabidopsis*. Callus with a mutation in *MET1* undergoes uninduced shoot formation more rapidly (82). Molecular evidence indicates that *MET1* is a negative regulator of *WUS* expression in callus, acting to inhibit shoot regeneration (82). Roots derived from *drm1 drm2 cmt3* triple mutants (*ddc*) and *cmt3* mutants are able to regenerate shoots directly from lateral root meristems when placed on shoot-inducing media (133). Loss of *DME* promotes callus formation, but suppresses de novo shoot formation from callus (73). Overall, the available data suggest that DNA methylation maintenance pathways may repress de novo shoot regeneration from callus while DNA demethylation induces de novo shoot regeneration.

Roles of DNA Methylation During Development

Different tissues have unique DNA methylation and transcriptional profiles, and different combinations of epigenetic modifiers and pathways likely contribute to some of these observed differences. Given the inextricable role of gene expression in the differentiation of cell types, it is reasonable to hypothesize that DNA methylation could indirectly contribute to cell differentiation by impacting gene expression. Some examples of this have already been discussed. Overall, there are few examples of morphological phenotypes associated with loss of a single DNA methvlation or demethylation gene or pathway in Arabidopsis. Notable exceptions include MET1 and DME, which have consequences for plant development and fertility (36, 66, 70, 73, 129). Recently, researchers have generated Arabidopsis mutants where effectively all DNA methylation or demethylation activity is eliminated. In a met1 drm1 drm2 cmt3 cmt2 (mddcc) quintuple mutant, all DNA methylation is lost (49), leading to aberrant gene and TE expression. Mutant mddcc seedlings are much smaller than wild type and fail to flower, although whether this is caused by a dysregulation of flowering pathways or a complete failure of the shoot meristematic tissue is unclear. Root development is impacted as well, with root apical meristem cells appearing disorganized and root growth severely stunted (49). The quadruple mutant of all four DNA demethylases, drdd, flowers early (149). This is likely due to a decrease in FLC expression in the drdd background at the seedling stage and is correlated with hypermethylation of tandem repeats upstream of FLC (149).

While there are well characterized DNA methylation differences between cell or tissue types, loss or gain of DNA methylation at a scale less drastic than that induced by mutations in all methyltransferases or demethylases does not have clear consequences for cell and tissue differentiation. For example, through fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) of the root tip and bisulfite sequencing of DNA from different cell types, researchers discovered that columella cells are DNA hypermethylated, especially in the CHH context, relative to both surrounding root cells and all other profiled cell types in *Arabidopsis* (68). The increased CHH methylation is likely established through RdDM and found predominantly in genes overlapping with TEs (68). The role of this remarkable CHH hypermethylation in columella is unclear, and columella identity does not depend on RdDM.

EVIDENCE (OR LACK OF EVIDENCE) FOR EPIGENETIC RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STRESSORS ON MULTIPLE TIMESCALES

The inherent potential for plasticity of an epigenome has brought up questions of whether and how the epigenome can allow for more rapid response to environmental stressors and ultimately even adaptation on a shorter timescale than genetic mutation may allow (88).

Evidence is accumulating for epigenetic and regulatory RNA-mediated mechanisms promoting male fertility in flowering plants, particularly under unfavorable conditions. In maize and rice, pathways that promote the production of phased, secondary small interfering RNAs (phasiRNAs) appear to buffer male fertility in the face of restrictive temperatures, as well as lengthening the photoperiod in rice (34, 80, 142, 165). Cleavage of phasiRNA precursors is dependent on miRNAs, and loss of miR2118, a miRNA that is responsible for cleavage of the phasiRNA precursor in rice that prevents photoperiod-restrictive male sterility, also results in the phenotype (3). Additional investigation indicates that miR2118-mediated 24-nt phasiRNA production promotes cell wall and anther wall development (3). In cotton, chemically induced loss of DNA methylation causes microspore sterility under high-heat conditions (92). Epigenetic strategies employed by plants to support fertility under high-heat conditions are of considerable interest in the face of climate change.

Changes to the transcriptome and epigenome that are induced by stress conditions are known (76, 98, 102, 148); however, the timescale on which these changes happen is an important consideration for future research. What molecularly distinguishes an intragenerational memory of a repeated stress that may allow an individual plant to tolerate this stress more robustly versus a response that is inherited through limited generations?

The initial response of a plant to increased temperature is regulated by many different pathways, both epigenetic and through transcription factors (102, 111). The transcriptional response to heat stress has been well characterized. Heat shock factors are critical for transcriptional changes in response to heat stress, with key factors being the HSFA1s and HSFA2 (102). The expression of some loci is maintained at a high level for hours or even days after the initial stress event, allowing for a more robust response to future stress events in that individual plant (102). *FORGETTER1* (*FGT1*) has been identified as a key gene for maintaining somatic memory of heat stress by associating with chromatin remodeling complexes and promoting open chromatin at other genes required for heat shock memory (13). The heat shock factor HSFA2 forms a heteromeric protein complex with HSFA3, and together they are critical for promoting sustained transcription of other heat shock genes through direct activation and by directing deposition of the activating mark H3K4 methylation (37, 77). *FGT1* is required for sustained transcription of the HSFA2 target HSA32, suggesting cooperation between these pathways (13). HSFA2 also activates the H3K27 demethylase REF6, which then further promotes HSFA2 expression in a positive feedback loop after heat shock stimulus (86).

Despite known epigenetic dynamics under stress conditions, evidence for intergenerational memory of stress in the absence of the stressor is limited (88). If so-called transgenerational epigenetic memory of heat stress is mostly nonexistent, why is this so? What mechanisms prevent epigenetic changes induced by heat response from being stably inherited indefinitely? After heat stress exposure, many TEs and repetitive regions are transcriptionally upregulated (78, 109, 143). The regulation of heat-activated TEs could inform future studies of epigenetic regulation under heat stress conditions. Expression of the long terminal repeat (LTR) retrotransposon ONSEN is initiated by heat stress and counteracted by Pol IV and RdDM activity (16, 58) (Figure 3). Insertion of ONSEN can relay heat sensitivity to nearby genes (58). Importantly, the loss of Pol IV siRNAs and DNA methylation is not sufficient for ONSEN expression, but loss of CHH methvlation seems to enhance the expression of ONSEN under heat stress (16, 58). During flower development, likely before gametogenesis has been initiated, transposition of ONSEN is restricted by Pol IV. This prevents the propagation of new ONSEN insertions in the progeny of heat-stressed plants (39, 58). CMT3 promotes ONSEN expression under heat stress in young seedlings, while CMT2 restricts ONSEN expression (101) (Figure 3). The body and ends of ONSEN are highly CHH methylated, and this methylation is primarily CMT2 dependent, although RdDM is likely contributing at the ends. In a CMT3 mutant, ONSEN is CHH hypermethylated, H3K9me2 is enriched, and tagged CMT2 protein is enriched at ONSEN (101). These studies raise interesting



Figure 3

Model of ONSEN regulation in response to heat stress in *Arabidopsis*. ONSEN is a long terminal repeat (LTR) transcription factor family whose expression is induced by heat stress through heat shock transcription factors (HSFs). Expression and transposition of ONSEN are dampened under heat stress by RNA polymerase IV (Pol IV) (16, 58). CHH methylation of ONSEN is primarily CMT2-dependent and represses ONSEN expression (16). CMT3 recognizes H3K9me2 and CHG sites at ONSEN and noncanonically acts to promote expression by limiting CMT2 occupancy (101).

questions about potential noncanonical roles of *CMT3* and the mechanism by which, during development, *ONSEN* transposition is restricted by Pol IV activity to prevent inheritance of active *ONSEN* elements in heat stress conditions (**Figure 3**).

Mutator transposons in maize are well-characterized MULE superfamily transposons (84). Recent work on this transposon family has provided insight into the interplay between different epigenetic modifications under normal and stress growth conditions. Transposition of nonautonomous Mu elements can only occur in the presence of an active autonomous element, MuDR. MuDR encodes two genes, mudrA and mudrB; both are required for transposition. The terminal inverted repeats (TIRs) at the ends of MuDR act as promoters for these genes (84). MuDR is stably silenced in the presence of the Mu killer locus, which has sequence homology to mudrA (134). In a silenced MuDR background, the TIR for mudrA (TIRA) is methylated, and different regions of TIRA have been shown to become methylated through distinct small RNA-mediated mechanisms (14). Loss of MOP1, an RDR2 homolog and key component of the maize RdDM pathway, can lead to the gradual loss of mudrA silencing over generations (154). This initial maintenance of *mudrA* silencing in a *mop1* mutant is not dependent on DNA methylation levels at TIRA (44). However, loss of MOP1 does result in increased levels of H3K9me2 and H3K27me2 at TIRA and H3K27me3 at TIRB (44), suggesting an interaction between the loss of RdDM activity and gain of repressive histone modifications at the TIRs. Subjecting young mop1 mutant seedlings that contain silenced MuDR elements to heat stress reactivates mudrA and mudrB transcription, corresponding with the loss of repressive histone methylation abundance at the TIRs. The heat-activated status of MuDR was heritable both intraindividually and to progeny over several generations in the absence of heat or the *mop1* mutation (44). These data suggest that histone methylation at the TIRs, supported in some way by MOP1 activity, is responsible for the silencing of MuDR under heat stress and restricting transmission of active MuDR.

These studies of TE activation and inheritance under heat stress highlight another potential benefit to resetting epigenetic responses to stress: Restricting the inheritance of heat-induced epigenetic changes may limit the risk of passing on potentially harmful active TEs to the progeny. In another study, chromatin remodelers *DDM1* and *MOM1* were observed to interact genetically

to prevent transgenerational memory of heat stress at a heat-responsive reporter transgene (59), further hinting at underlying mechanisms of heat response resetting.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Patterning of epigenetic modifications can be heritable intergenerationally, but there are many instances of epigenetic modifications that are maintained intraindividually but reset between generations. How these two outcomes are mechanistically distinguished is not always clear.
- 2. For an epigenetic mark to be intergenerationally heritable, some form of memory of that mark needs to be maintained through stem cells of the shoot apical meristem, gameto-genesis, and embryogenesis, as plants do not form a germline during early development. Intraindividual inheritance of epigenetic marks requires memory of the information through cell division and development but also a resetting of epigenetic information to prevent inheritance between generations.
- 3. The role of epigenetic regulation in development has been made clear for some regulators, such as Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2), but not all epigenetic dynamics have or are likely to have developmental consequences.
- 4. Regions of intermediate CG methylation may represent regions that are enriched for DNA demethylation and de novo methylation activity and thus are subject to higher levels of epigenetic change over generations. These regions are enriched in proteincoding gene bodies but may reflect a larger phenomenon of mechanisms that buffer against stochastic loss of DNA methylation intergenerationally.
- 5. Heat-activated transposable elements (TEs) provide a valuable platform to study the role of epigenetic regulation in repressing TEs as well as mechanisms for preventing intergenerational memory of environmental stressors.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. When and where during development are epigenetic modifications that will be inherited between generations established?
- 2. What distinguishes an epigenetic mark that is established and reset within one individual plant from a heritable change to the epigenome?
- 3. What mechanisms underlie the epigenetic regulation of the maintenance of differentiated states during development? Are these mechanisms utilized or reversed in response to wounding?
- 4. How can we use and manipulate epigenetic processes to increase plant resiliency in the face of changing climates and the resulting loss of resources?

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Jen Cook-Chrysos for **Figure 2** preparation, as well as Souraya Khouider and Rebecca Povilus for their helpful comments on the manuscript. Research on epigenetic inheritance in the Gehring lab is supported by National Institutes of Health R35 GM145321.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. An Y-QC, Goettel W, Han Q, Bartels A, Liu Z, Xiao W. 2017. Dynamic changes of genome-wide DNA methylation during soybean seed development. *Sci. Rep.* 7(1):12263
- Angel A, Song J, Dean C, Howard M. 2011. A Polycomb-based switch underlying quantitative epigenetic memory. Nature 476(7358):105–8
- Araki S, Le NT, Koizumi K, Villar-Briones A, Nonomura K-I, et al. 2020. miR2118-dependent U-rich phasiRNA production in rice anther wall development. *Nat. Commun.* 11(1):3115
- Batista RA, Moreno-Romero J, Qiu Y, van Boven J, Santos-González J, et al. 2019. The MADSbox transcription factor PHERES1 controls imprinting in the endosperm by binding to domesticated transposons. *eLife* 8:e50541
- Baubec T, Finke A, Mittelsten Scheid O, Pecinka A. 2014. Meristem-specific expression of epigenetic regulators safeguards transposon silencing in Arabidopsis. *EMBO Rep.* 15(4):446–52
- Becker C, Hagmann J, Müller J, Koenig D, Stegle O, et al. 2011. Spontaneous epigenetic variation in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* methylome. *Nature* 480 (7376):245–49
- 7. Berry S, Hartley M, Olsson TSG, Dean C, Howard M. 2015. Local chromatin environment of a Polycomb target gene instructs its own epigenetic inheritance. *eLife* 4:e07205
- Borg M, Jacob Y, Susaki D, LeBlanc C, Buendía D, et al. 2020. Targeted reprogramming of H3K27me3 resets epigenetic memory in plant paternal chromatin. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 22(6):621–29
- 9. Borg M, Papareddy RK, Dombey R, Axelsson E, Nodine MD, et al. 2021. Epigenetic reprogramming rewires transcription during the alternation of generations in Arabidopsis. *eLife* 10:e61984
- Borges F, Gomes G, Gardner R, Moreno N, McCormick S, et al. 2008. Comparative transcriptomics of Arabidopsis sperm cells. *Plant Physiol.* 148(2):1168–81
- 11. Bouyer D, Kramdi A, Kassam M, Heese M, Schnittger A, et al. 2017. DNA methylation dynamics during early plant life. *Genome Biol.* 18(1):179
- 12. Bouyer D, Roudier F, Heese M, Andersen ED, Gey D, et al. 2011. Polycomb repressive complex 2 controls the embryo-to-seedling phase transition. *PLOS Genet.* 7(3):e1002014
- 13. Brzezinka K, Altmann S, Czesnick H, Nicolas P, Gorka M, et al. 2016. *Arabidopsis* FORGETTER1 mediates stress-induced chromatin memory through nucleosome remodeling. *eLife* 5:e17061
- Burgess D, Li H, Zhao M, Kim SY, Lisch D. 2020. Silencing of *Mutator* elements in maize involves distinct populations of small RNAs and distinct patterns of DNA methylation. *Genetics* 215(2):379–91
- Calarco JP, Borges F, Donoghue MTA, Van Ex F, Jullien PE, et al. 2012. Reprogramming of DNA methylation in pollen guides epigenetic inheritance via small RNA. *Cell* 151(1):194–205
- 16. Cavrak VV, Lettner N, Jamge S, Kosarewicz A, Bayer LM, Mittelsten Scheid O. 2014. How a retrotransposon exploits the plant's heat stress response for its activation. *PLOS Genet.* 10(1):e1004115
- Chanvivattana Y, Bishopp A, Schubert D, Stock C, Moon Y-H, et al. 2004. Interaction of Polycombgroup proteins controlling flowering in *Arabidopsis*. *Development* 131(21):5263–76
- Cheng K, Xu Y, Yang C, Ouellette L, Niu L, et al. 2020. Histone tales: lysine methylation, a protagonist in Arabidopsis development. J. Exp. Bot. 71(3):793–807
- Cheng X, Pan M, Zhiguo E, Zhou Y, Niu B, Chen C. 2021. The maternally expressed polycomb group gene OsEMF2a is essential for endosperm cellularization and imprinting in rice. Plant Comm. 2(1):100092
- Choi J, Lyons DB, Zilberman D. 2021. Histone H1 prevents non-CG methylation-mediated small RNA biogenesis in *Arabidopsis* heterochromatin. *eLife* 10:e72676
- Choi Y, Gehring M, Johnson L, Hannon M, Harada JJ, et al. 2002. DEMETER, a DNA glycosylase domain protein, is required for endosperm gene imprinting and seed viability in *Arabidopsis. Cell* 110(1):33–42

8. Shows that H3K27me3 is reduced in sperm through a combination of active demethylation, reduced expression of Polycomb subunits, and deposition of sperm-specific variant H3.10 that is not effectively methylated.

- 22. Conrad LJ, Khanday I, Johnson C, Guiderdoni E, An G, et al. 2014. The polycomb group gene *EMF2B* is essential for maintenance of floral meristem determinacy in rice. *Plant J*. 80(5):883–94
- 23. Costa S, Dean C. 2019. Storing memories: the distinct phases of Polycomb-mediated silencing of *Arabidopsis FLC. Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 47(4):1187–96
- 24. Crevillén P, Yang H, Cui X, Greeff C, Trick M, et al. 2014. Epigenetic reprogramming that prevents transgenerational inheritance of the vernalized state. *Nature* 515(7528):587–90
- 25. Cuerda-Gil D, Slotkin RK. 2016. Non-canonical RNA-directed DNA methylation. *Nat. Plants* 2(11):16163
- Danilevskaya ON, Hermon P, Hantke S, Muszynski MG, Kollipara K, Ananiev EV. 2003. Duplicated fie genes in maize: expression pattern and imprinting suggest distinct functions. *Plant Cell* 15(2):425–38
- 27. Deal RB, Henikoff S. 2011. Histone variants and modifications in plant gene regulation. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 14(2):116–22
- Denkena J, Johannes F, Colomé-Tatché M. 2021. Region-level epimutation rates in Arabidopsis thaliana. Heredity 127(2):190–202
- Du J, Johnson LM, Groth M, Feng S, Hale CJ, et al. 2014. Mechanism of DNA methylation-directed histone methylation by KRYPTONITE. *Mol. Cell* 55(3):495–504
- Du J, Zhong X, Bernatavichute YV, Stroud H, Feng S, et al. 2012. Dual binding of chromomethylase domains to H3K9me2-containing nucleosomes directs DNA methylation in plants. *Cell* 151(1):167–80
- Erdmann RM, Hoffmann A, Walter H-K, Wagenknecht H-A, Groß-Hardt R, Gehring M. 2017. Molecular movement in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* female gametophyte. *Plant Reprod*. 30(3):141–46
- 32. Erdmann RM, Picard CL. 2020. RNA-directed DNA methylation. PLOS Genet. 16(10):e1009034
- Eshed Williams L. 2021. Genetics of shoot meristem and shoot regeneration. Annu. Rev. Genet. 55:661– 81
- Fan Y, Yang J, Mathioni SM, Yu J, Shen J, et al. 2016. *PMS1T*, producing phased small-interfering RNAs, regulates photoperiod-sensitive male sterility in rice. *PNAS* 113(52):15144–49
- 35. Fehér A. 2019. Callus, dedifferentiation, totipotency, somatic embryogenesis: what these terms mean in the era of molecular plant biology? *Front. Plant Sci.* 10:536
- Finnegan EJ, Peacock WJ, Dennis ES. 1996. Reduced DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana results in abnormal plant development. PNAS 93(16):8449–54
- 37. Friedrich T, Oberkofler V, Trindade I, Altmann S, Brzezinka K, et al. 2021. Heteromeric HSFA2/HSFA3 complexes drive transcriptional memory after heat stress in *Arabidopsis. Nat. Commun.* 12(1):3426
- Frost JM, Kim MY, Park GT, Hsieh P-H, Nakamura M, et al. 2018. FACT complex is required for DNA demethylation at heterochromatin during reproduction in *Arabidopsis. PNAS* 115(20):E4720–29
- Gaubert H, Sanchez DH, Drost H-G, Paszkowski J. 2017. Developmental restriction of retrotransposition activated in *Arabidopsis* by environmental stress. *Genetics* 207(2):813–21
- Gehring M. 2019. Epigenetic dynamics during flowering plant reproduction: evidence for reprogramming? New Phytol. 224(1):91–96
- Gehring M, Huh JH, Hsieh T-F, Penterman J, Choi Y, et al. 2006. DEMETER DNA glycosylase establishes *MEDEA* Polycomb gene self-imprinting by allele-specific demethylation. *Cell* 124(3):495–506
- 42. Gent JI, Higgins KM, Swentowsky KW, Fu F-F, Zeng Y, et al. 2022. The maize gene *mater-nal derepression of r1* encodes a DNA glycosylase that demethylates DNA and reduces siRNA expression in the endosperm. *Plant Cell* 34(10):3685–701
- 43. Gouil Q, Baulcombe DC. 2016. DNA methylation signatures of the plant chromomethyltransferases. *PLOS Genet.* 12(12):e1006526
- 44. Guo W, Wang D, Lisch D. 2021. RNA-directed DNA methylation prevents rapid and heritable reversal of transposon silencing under heat stress in *Zea mays*. *PLOS Genet.* 17(6):e1009326
- Gutzat R, Rembart K, Nussbaumer T, Hofmann F, Pisupati R, et al. 2020. Arabidopsis shoot stem cells display dynamic transcription and DNA methylation patterns. EMBO 7. 39(20):e103667
- 46. Han Z, Crisp PA, Stelpflug S, Kaeppler SM, Li Q, Springer NM. 2018. Heritable epigenomic changes to the maize methylome resulting from tissue culture. *Genetics* 209(4):983–95
- 47. Hazarika RR, Serra M, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Schmitz RJ, Johannes F. 2022. Molecular properties of epimutation hotspots. *Nat. Plants* 8(2):146–56

42. Characterizes the *Mdr1* DNA demethylase gene in maize, which redundantly contributes to male and female fertility with homolog DNG102.

44. Shows that the RdDM pathway antagonizes MuDR element activation in response to heat stress.

47. Characterizes the chromatin structure and genomic features of regions with high rates of epimutation in *Arabidopsis*.

- He C, Chen X, Huang H, Xu L. 2012. Reprogramming of H3K27me3 is critical for acquisition of pluripotency from cultured *Arabidopsis* tissues. *PLOS Genet.* 8(8):e1002911
- He L, Huang H, Bradai M, Zhao C, You Y, et al. 2022. DNA methylation-free Arabidopsis reveals crucial roles of DNA methylation in regulating gene expression and development. Nat. Commun. 13(1):1335
- Higo A, Saihara N, Miura F, Higashi Y, Yamada M, et al. 2020. DNA methylation is reconfigured at the onset of reproduction in rice shoot apical meristem. *Nat. Commun.* 11(1):4079
- Hinsch V, Adkins S, Manuela D, Xu M. 2021. Post-embryonic phase transitions mediated by Polycomb repressive complexes in plants. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22(14):7533
- 52. Hsieh P-H, He S, Buttress T, Gao H, Couchman M, et al. 2016. *Arabidopsis* male sexual lineage exhibits more robust maintenance of CG methylation than somatic tissues. *PNAS* 113(52):15132–37
- 53. Ibarra CA, Feng X, Schoft VK, Hsieh TF, Uzawa R, et al. 2012. Active DNA demethylation in plant companion cells reinforces transposon methylation in gametes. *Science* 337(6100):1360–64
- 54. Ikeda Y, Kinoshita Y, Susaki D, Ikeda Y, Iwano M, et al. 2011. HMG domain containing *SSRP1* is required for DNA demethylation and genomic imprinting in *Arabidopsis. Dev. Cell* 21(3):589–96
- 55. Ikeuchi M, Rymen B, Sugimoto K. 2020. How do plants transduce wound signals to induce tissue repair and organ regeneration? *Curr: Opin. Plant Biol.* 57:72–77
- Ingouff M, Selles B, Michaud C, Vu TM, Berger F, et al. 2017. Live-cell analysis of DNA methylation during sexual reproduction in *Arabidopsis* reveals context and sex-specific dynamics controlled by noncanonical RdDM. *Genes Dev.* 31(1):72–83
- 57. Ishihara H, Sugimoto K, Tarr PT, Temman H, Kadokura S, et al. 2019. Primed histone demethylation regulates shoot regenerative competency. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):1786
- Ito H, Gaubert H, Bucher E, Mirouze M, Vaillant I, Paszkowski J. 2011. An siRNA pathway prevents transgenerational retrotransposition in plants subjected to stress. *Nature* 472(7341):115–19
- Iwasaki M, Paszkowski J. 2014. Identification of genes preventing transgenerational transmission of stress-induced epigenetic states. PNAS 111(23):8547–52
- Iwasaki M, Penfield S, Lopez-Molina L. 2022. Parental and environmental control of seed dormancy in Arabidopsis tbaliana. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 73:355–78
- 61. Jacobs AL, Schär P. 2012. DNA glycosylases: in DNA repair and beyond. Chromosoma 121(1):1-20
- 62. Ji L, Mathioni SM, Johnson S, Tucker D, Bewick AJ, et al. 2019. Genome-wide reinforcement of DNA methylation occurs during somatic embryogenesis in soybean. *Plant Cell* 31(10):2315–31
- 63. Jia Y, Lisch DR, Ohtsu K, Scanlon MJ, Nettleton D, Schnable PS. 2009. Loss of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase 2 (RDR2) function causes widespread and unexpected changes in the expression of transposons, genes, and 24-nt small RNAs. *PLOS Genet.* 5(11):e1000737
- 64. Jin R, Klasfeld S, Zhu Y, Fernandez Garcia M, Xiao J, et al. 2021. LEAFY is a pioneer transcription factor and licenses cell reprogramming to floral fate. *Nat. Commun.* 12(1):626
- Jullien PE, Susaki D, Yelagandula R, Higashiyama T, Berger F. 2012. DNA methylation dynamics during sexual reproduction in *Arabidopsis tbaliana*. *Curr. Biol.* 22(19):1825–30
- Kankel MW, Ramsey DE, Stokes TL, Flowers SK, Haag JR, et al. 2003. Arabidopsis MET1 cytosine methyltransferase mutants. Genetics 163(3):1109–22
- Kawakatsu T, Nery JR, Castanon R, Ecker JR. 2017. Dynamic DNA methylation reconfiguration during seed development and germination. *Genome Biol.* 18(1):171
- Kawakatsu T, Stuart T, Valdes M, Breakfield N, Schmitz RJ, et al. 2016. Unique cell-type-specific patterns of DNA methylation in the root meristem. *Nat. Plants* 2(5):16058
- Kennedy A, Geuten K. 2020. The role of FLOWERING LOCUS C relatives in cereals. Front. Plant Sci. 11:2108
- Khouider S, Borges F, LeBlanc C, Ungru A, Schnittger A, et al. 2021. Male fertility in *Arabidopsis* requires active DNA demethylation of genes that control pollen tube function. *Nat. Commun.* 12(1):410
- Kim J, Kim JH, Richards EJ, Chung KM, Woo HR. 2014. *Arabidopsis* VIM proteins regulate epigenetic silencing by modulating DNA methylation and histone modification in cooperation with MET1. *Mol. Plant* 7(9):1470–85
- 72. Kim MY, Ono A, Scholten S, Kinoshita T, Zilberman D, et al. 2019. DNA demethylation by ROS1a in rice vegetative cells promotes methylation in sperm. *PNAS* 116(19):9652–57

64. Shows that LEAFY binds DNA within a nucleosome as a pioneer transcription factor and promotes proper floral patterning by permitting the expression of *AP1*.

- Kim S, Park J-S, Lee J, Lee KK, Park O-S, et al. 2021. The DME demethylase regulates sporophyte gene expression, cell proliferation, differentiation, and meristem resurrection. *PNAS* 118(29):2026806118
- Kinoshita T, Harada JJ, Goldberg RB, Fischer RL. 2001. Polycomb repression of flowering during early plant development. PNAS 98(24):14156–61
- 75. Klosinska M, Picard CL, Gehring M. 2016. Conserved imprinting associated with unique epigenetic signatures in the *Arabidopsis* genus. *Nat. Plants* 2(10):16145
- 76. Lämke J, Bäurle I. 2017. Epigenetic and chromatin-based mechanisms in environmental stress adaptation and stress memory in plants. *Genome Biol.* 18(1):124
- Lämke J, Brzezinka K, Altmann S, Bäurle I. 2016. A hit-and-run heat shock factor governs sustained histone methylation and transcriptional stress memory. *EMBO J*. 35(2):162–75
- Lang-Mladek C, Popova O, Kiok K, Berlinger M, Rakic B, et al. 2010. Transgenerational inheritance and resetting of stress-induced loss of epigenetic gene silencing in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant* 3(3):594–602
- Lee K, Park O-S, Seo PJ. 2018. JMJ30-mediated demethylation of H3K9me3 drives tissue identity changes to promote callus formation in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*. 95(6):961–75
- Lee YS, Maple R, Dürr J, Dawson A, Tamim S, et al. 2021. A transposon surveillance mechanism that safeguards plant male fertility during stress. *Nat. Plants* 7(1):34–41
- Lei M, Zhang H, Julian R, Tang K, Xie S, Zhu JK. 2015. Regulatory link between DNA methylation and active demethylation in *Arabidopsis*. PNAS 112(11):3553–57
- Li W, Liu H, Cheng ZJ, Su YH, Han HN, et al. 2011. DNA methylation and histone modifications regulate *de novo* shoot regeneration in *Arabidopsis* by modulating *WUSCHEL* expression and auxin signaling. *PLOS Genet.* 7(8):e1002243
- Lin J-Y, Le BH, Chen M, Henry KF, Hur J, et al. 2017. Similarity between soybean and *Arabidopsis* seed methylomes and loss of non-CG methylation does not affect seed development. *PNAS* 114(45):E9730– 39
- 84. Lisch D. 2015. Mutator and MULE transposons. Microbiol. Spectr. 3(2):MDNA3-0032-2014
- Lister R, O'Malley RC, Tonti-Filippini J, Gregory BD, Berry CC, et al. 2008. Highly integrated singlebase resolution maps of the epigenome in *Arabidopsis*. *Cell* 133(3):523–36
- Liu J, Feng L, Gu X, Deng X, Qiu Q, et al. 2019. An H3K27me3 demethylase-HSFA2 regulatory loop orchestrates transgenerational thermomemory in *Arabidopsis. Cell Res.* 29(5):379–90
- 87. Liu X, Zhou S, Wang W, Ye Y, Zhao Y, et al. 2015. Regulation of histone methylation and reprogramming of gene expression in the rice inflorescence meristem. *Plant Cell* 27(5):1428–44
- 88. Lloyd JPB, Lister R. 2022. Epigenome plasticity in plants. Nat. Rev. Genet. 23(1):55-68
- Long J, Walker J, She W, Aldridge B, Gao H, et al. 2021. Nurse cell–derived small RNAs define paternal epigenetic inheritance in *Arabidopsis. Science* 373(6550):eabh0556
- Lu F, Cui X, Zhang S, Jenuwein T, Cao X. 2011. Arabidopsis REF6 is a histone H3 lysine 27 demethylase. Nat. Genet. 43(7):715–19
- Lyons DB, Briffa A, He S, Choi J, Hollwey E, et al. 2023. Extensive *de novo* activity stabilizes epigenetic inheritance of CG methylation in *Arabidopsis* transposons. *Cell Rep.* 42(3):112132
- Ma Y, Min L, Wang M, Wang C, Zhao Y, et al. 2018. Disrupted genome methylation in response to high temperature has distinct affects on microspore abortion and anther indehiscence. *Plant Cell* 30(7):1387– 403
- Makarevich G, Villar CBR, Erilova A, Köhler C. 2008. Mechanism of *PHERES1* imprinting in Arabidopsis. J. Cell Sci. 121(Part 6):906–12
- 94. Martínez G, Slotkin RK. 2012. Developmental relaxation of transposable element silencing in plants: functional or byproduct? *Curr: Opin. Plant Biol.* 15(5):496–502
- Matzke MA, Mosher RA. 2014. RNA-directed DNA methylation: an epigenetic pathway of increasing complexity. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 15(6):394–408
- 96. Menon G, Schulten A, Dean C, Howard M. 2021. Digital paradigm for Polycomb epigenetic switching and memory. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 61:102012
- Mikulski P, Wolff P, Lu T, Nielsen M, Echevarria EF, et al. 2022. VAL1 acts as an assembly platform co-ordinating co-transcriptional repression and chromatin regulation at Arabidopsis *FLC. Nat. Commun.* 13(1):5542

- Mirouze M, Paszkowski J. 2011. Epigenetic contribution to stress adaptation in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 14(3):267–74
- Moreno-Romero J, del Toro-De León G, Yadav VK, Santos-González J, Köhler C. 2019. Epigenetic signatures associated with imprinted paternally expressed genes in the *Arabidopsis* endosperm. *Genome Biol.* 20(1):41
- Ning Y-Q, Liu N, Lan K-K, Su Y-N, Li L, et al. 2020. DREAM complex suppresses DNA methylation maintenance genes and precludes DNA hypermethylation. *Nat. Plants* 6(8):942–56
- 101. Nozawa K, Chen J, Jiang J, Leichter SM, Yamada M, et al. 2021. DNA methyltransferase CHROMOMETHYLASE3 prevents ONSEN transposon silencing under heat stress. PLOS Genet. 17(8):e1009710
- Ohama N, Sato H, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2017. Transcriptional regulatory network of plant heat stress response. *Trends Plant Sci.* 22(1):53–65
- Ohtsu K, Smith MB, Emrich SJ, Borsuk LA, Zhou R, et al. 2007. Global gene expression analysis of the shoot apical meristem of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Plant 7.* 52(3):391–404
- 104. Ortega-Galisteo AP, Morales-Ruiz T, Ariza RR, Roldán-Arjona T. 2008. Arabidopsis DEMETER-LIKE proteins DML2 and DML3 are required for appropriate distribution of DNA methylation marks. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 67(6):671–81
- 105. Panda K, McCue AD, Slotkin RK. 2020. Arabidopsis RNA Polymerase IV generates 21–22 nucleotide small RNAs that can participate in RNA-directed DNA methylation and may regulate genes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 375(1795):20190417
- Papareddy RK, Páldi K, Paulraj S, Kao P, Lutzmayer S, Nodine MD. 2020. Chromatin regulates expression of small RNAs to help maintain transposon methylome homeostasis in Arabidopsis. *Genome Biol.* 21(1):251
- 107. Papareddy RK, Páldi K, Smolka AD, Hüther P, Becker C, Nodine MD. 2021. Repression of CHROMOMETHYLASE 3 prevents epigenetic collateral damage in *Arabidopsis. eLife* 10:e69396
- Park K, Kim MY, Vickers M, Park JS, Hyun Y, et al. 2016. DNA demethylation is initiated in the central cells of *Arabidopsis* and rice. *PNAS* 113(52):15138–43
- Pecinka A, Dinh HQ, Baubec T, Rosa M, Lettner N, Mittelsten Scheid O. 2010. Epigenetic regulation of repetitive elements is attenuated by prolonged heat stress in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 22(9):3118–29
- Penterman J, Zilberman D, Huh JH, Ballinger T, Henikoff S, Fischer RL. 2007. DNA demethylation in the *Arabidopsis* genome. *PNAS* 104(16):6752–57
- Perrella G, Bäurle I, van Zanten M. 2022. Epigenetic regulation of thermomorphogenesis and heat stress tolerance. *New Phytol.* 234(4):1144–60
- 112. Pfluger J, Wagner D. 2007. Histone modifications and dynamic regulation of genome accessibility in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 10(6):645–52
- 113. Picard CL, Gehring M. 2017. Proximal methylation features associated with nonrandom changes in gene body methylation. *Genome Biol.* 18(1):73
- 114. Picard CL, Povilus RA, Williams BP, Gehring M. 2021. Transcriptional and imprinting complexity in *Arabidopsis* seeds at single-nucleus resolution. *Nat. Plants* 7(6):730–38
- 115. Pignatta D, Erdmann RM, Scheer E, Picard CL, Bell GW, Gehring M. 2014. Natural epigenetic polymorphisms lead to intraspecific variation in Arabidopsis gene imprinting. *eLife* 3:e03198
- Pignatta D, Novitzky K, Satyaki PRV, Gehring M. 2018. A variably imprinted epiallele impacts seed development. PLOS Genet. 14(11):e1007469
- 117. Plotnikova A, Kellner MJ, Schon MA, Mosiolek M, Nodine MD. 2019. MicroRNA dynamics and functions during Arabidopsis embryogenesis. *Plant Cell* 31(12):2929–46
- Qian W, Miki D, Zhang H, Liu Y, Zhang X, et al. 2012. A histone acetyltransferase regulates active DNA demethylation in *Arabidopsis. Science* 336(6087):1445–48
- 119. Qiu Q, Mei H, Deng X, He K, Wu B, et al. 2019. DNA methylation repels targeting of *Arabidopsis* REF6. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):2063
- Qüesta JI, Song J, Geraldo N, An H, Dean C. 2016. Arabidopsis transcriptional repressor VAL1 triggers Polycomb silencing at FLC during vernalization. Science 353(6298):485–88

101. Shows that CMT3 promotes ONSEN expression in response to heat stress.

119. Shows that REF6 binding to its target motif is inhibited by CHG methylation, and REF6 gains some target sites in a DNAhypomethylated genetic background.

- 121. Rajkumar MS, Gupta K, Khemka NK, Garg R, Jain M. 2020. DNA methylation reprogramming during seed development and its functional relevance in seed size/weight determination in chickpea. *Commun. Biol.* 3(1):340
- 122. Rea M, Zheng W, Chen M, Braud C, Bhangu D, et al. 2012. Histone H1 affects gene imprinting and DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*. 71(5):776–86
- 123. Reinders J, Wulff BBH, Mirouze M, Marí-Ordóñez A, Dapp M, et al. 2009. Compromised stability of DNA methylation and transposon immobilization in mosaic *Arabidopsis* epigenomes. *Genes Dev.* 23(8):939–50
- 124. Rigal M, Kevei Z, Pélissier T, Mathieu O. 2012. DNA methylation in an intron of the IBM1 histone demethylase gene stabilizes chromatin modification patterns. *EMBO J*. 31(13):2981–93
- 125. Rodrigues JA, Ruan R, Nishimura T, Sharma MK, Sharma R, et al. 2013. Imprinted expression of genes and small RNA is associated with localized hypomethylation of the maternal genome in rice endosperm. *PNAS* 110(19):7934–39
- 126. Rymen B, Kawamura A, Lambolez A, Inagaki S, Takebayashi A, et al. 2019. Histone acetylation orchestrates wound-induced transcriptional activation and cellular reprogramming in Arabidopsis. *Commun. Biol.* 2(1):404
- 127. Satterlee JW, Strable J, Scanlon MJ. 2020. Plant stem-cell organization and differentiation at single-cell resolution. *PNAS* 117(52):33689–99
- 128. Schmitz RJ, Schultz MD, Lewsey MG, O'Malley RC, Urich MA, et al. 2011. Transgenerational epigenetic instability is a source of novel methylation variants. *Science* 334(6054):369–73
- Schoft VK, Chumak N, Choi Y, Hannon M, Garcia-Aguilar M, et al. 2011. Function of the DEMETER DNA glycosylase in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* male gametophyte. *PNAS* 108(19):8042–47
- Schumann U, Lee JM, Smith NA, Zhong C, Zhu J-K, et al. 2019. DEMETER plays a role in DNA demethylation and disease response in somatic tissues of Arabidopsis. *Epigenetics* 14(11):1074–87
- 131. She W, Baroux C. 2015. Chromatin dynamics in pollen mother cells underpin a common scenario at the somatic-to-reproductive fate transition of both the male and female lineages in *Arabidopsis. Front. Plant Sci.* 6:294
- 132. She W, Grimanelli D, Rutowicz K, Whitehead MWJ, Puzio M, et al. 2013. Chromatin reprogramming during the somatic-to-reproductive cell fate transition in plants. *Development* 140(19):4008–19
- 133. Shemer O, Landau U, Candela H, Zemach A, Eshed Williams L. 2015. Competency for shoot regeneration from Arabidopsis root explants is regulated by DNA methylation. *Plant Sci.* 238:251–61
- 134. Slotkin RK, Freeling M, Lisch D. 2005. Heritable transposon silencing initiated by a naturally occurring transposon inverted duplication. *Nat. Genet.* 37:641–44
- 135. Stroud H, Ding B, Simon SA, Feng S, Bellizzi M, et al. 2013. Plants regenerated from tissue culture contain stable epigenome changes in rice. *eLife* 2013(2):e00354
- 136. Stroud H, Do T, Du J, Zhong X, Feng S, et al. 2014. Non-CG methylation patterns shape the epigenetic landscape in *Arabidopsis. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 21(1):64–72
- 137. Talbert PB, Henikoff S. 2017. Histone variants on the move: substrates for chromatin dynamics. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 18(2):115–26
- 138. Tamaki S, Tsuji H, Matsumoto A, Fujita A, Shimatani Z, et al. 2015. FT-like proteins induce transposon silencing in the shoot apex during floral induction in rice. *PNAS* 112(8):E901–10
- 139. Tang K, Lang Z, Zhang H, Zhu J-K. 2016. The DNA demethylase ROS1 targets genomic regions with distinct chromatin modifications. *Nat. Plants* 2(11):16169
- 140. Tao Z, Shen L, Gu X, Wang Y, Yu H, He Y. 2017. Embryonic epigenetic reprogramming by a pioneer transcription factor in plants. *Nature* 551(7678):124–28
- 141. Teixeira FK, Heredia F, Sarazin A, Roudier F, Boccara M, et al. 2009. A role for RNAi in the selective correction of DNA methylation defects. *Science* 323(5921):1600–4
- 142. Teng C, Zhang H, Hammond R, Huang K, Meyers BC, Walbot V. 2020. *Dicer-like 5* deficiency confers temperature-sensitive male sterility in maize. *Nat. Commun.* 11(1):2912
- 143. Tittel-Elmer M, Bucher E, Broger L, Mathieu O, Paszkowski J, Vaillant I. 2010. Stress-induced activation of heterochromatic transcription. *PLOS Genet.* 6(10):e1001175
- 144. Uchida N, Torii KU. 2019. Stem cells within the shoot apical meristem: identity, arrangement and communication. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 76(6):1067–80

126. Demonstrates that H3K9/14ac regulates wound-responsive gene expression in *Arabidopsis* roots, and histone acetyltransferase activity facilitates woundinduced callus formation.

127. Performs singlecell RNA-sequencing of the maize shoot apical meristem.

- 145. van der Graaf A, Wardenaara R, Neumann DA, Taudt A, Shaw RG, et al. 2015. Rate, spectrum, and evolutionary dynamics of spontaneous epimutations. PNAS 112(21):6676–81
- Walker J, Gao H, Zhang J, Aldridge B, Vickers M, et al. 2018. Sexual-lineage-specific DNA methylation regulates meiosis in *Arabidopsis. Nat. Genet.* 50(1):130–37
- 147. Wibowo A, Becker C, Durr J, Price J, Spaepen S, et al. 2018. Partial maintenance of organ-specific epigenetic marks during plant asexual reproduction leads to heritable phenotypic variation. PNAS 115(39):E9145-52
- 148. Wibowo A, Becker C, Marconi G, Durr J, Price J, et al. 2016. Hyperosmotic stress memory in Arabidopsis is mediated by distinct epigenetically labile sites in the genome and is restricted in the male germline by DNA glycosylase activity. *eLife* 5:13546
- Williams BP, Bechen LL, Pohlmann DA, Gehring M. 2022. Somatic DNA demethylation generates tissue-specific methylation states and impacts flowering time. *Plant Cell* 34(4):1189–206
- 150. Williams BP, Gehring M. 2020. Principles of epigenetic homeostasis shared between flowering plants and mammals. *Trends Genet.* 36(10):751–63
- 151. Williams BP, Pignatta D, Henikoff S, Gehring M. 2015. Methylation-sensitive expression of a DNA demethylase gene serves as an epigenetic rheostat. PLOS Genet. 11(3):e1005142
- Wong CE, Bhalla PL, Ottenhof H, Singh MB. 2008. Transcriptional profiling of the pea shoot apical meristem reveals processes underlying its function and maintenance. *BMC Plant Biol.* 8:73
- Woo HR, Dittmer TA, Richards EJ. 2008. Three SRA-domain methylcytosine-binding proteins cooperate to maintain global CpG methylation and epigenetic silencing in Arabidopsis. *PLOS Genet*. 4(8):e1000156
- 154. Woodhouse MR, Freeling M, Lisch D. 2006. The *mop1* (*mediator of paramutation1*) mutant progressively reactivates one of the two genes encoded by the *MuDR* transposon in maize. *Genetics* 172(1):579–92
- 155. Wu M-F, Sang Y, Bezhani S, Yamaguchi N, Han S-K, et al. 2012. SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPases overcome polycomb repression and control floral organ identity with the LEAFY and SEPALLATA3 transcription factors. PNAS 109(9):3576–81
- 156. Xu L, Zhao Z, Dong A, Soubigou-Taconnat L, Renou J-P, et al. 2008. Di- and tri- but not monomethylation on histone H3 lysine 36 marks active transcription of genes involved in flowering time regulation and other processes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28(4):1348–60
- 157. Xu Q, Wu L, Luo Z, Zhang M, Lai J, et al. 2022. DNA demethylation affects imprinted gene expression in maize endosperm. *Genome Biol.* 23(1):77
- Yan A, Borg M, Berger F, Chen Z. 2020. The atypical histone variant H3.15 promotes callus formation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Development* 147(11):dev184895
- 159. Yang H, Berry S, Olsson TSG, Hartley M, Howard M, Dean C. 2017. Distinct phases of Polycomb silencing to hold epigenetic memory of cold in *Arabidopsis. Science* 357(6356):1142–45
- Zemach A, Kim MY, Hsieh P-H, Coleman-Derr D, Eshed-Williams L, et al. 2013. The Arabidopsis nucleosome remodeler DDM1 allows DNA methyltransferases to access H1-containing heterochromatin. Cell 153(1):193–205
- 161. Zhang X, Bernatavichute YV, Cokus S, Pellegrini M, Jacobsen SE. 2009. Genome-wide analysis of mono-, di- and trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Genome Biol.* 10(6):R62
- Zhao Y, Antoniou-Kourounioti RL, Calder G, Dean C, Howard M. 2020. Temperature-dependent growth contributes to long-term cold sensing. *Nature* 583(7818):825–29
- 163. Zhao Y, Zhu P, Hepworth J, Bloomer R, Antoniou-Kourounioti RL, et al. 2021. Natural temperature fluctuations promote COOLAIR regulation of FLC. Genes Dev. 35(11–12):888–98
- Zhong X, Hale CJ, Law JA, Johnson LM, Feng S, et al. 2012. DDR complex facilitates global association of RNA polymerase V to promoters and evolutionarily young transposons. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 19(9):870–75
- 165. Zhou H, Liu Q, Li J, Jiang D, Zhou L, et al. 2012. Photoperiod- and thermo-sensitive genic male sterility in rice are caused by a point mutation in a novel noncoding RNA that produces a small RNA. *Cell Res.* 22(4):649–60
- Zhou M, Coruh C, Xu G, Martins LM, Bourbousse C, et al. 2022. The CLASSY family controls tissuespecific DNA methylation patterns in Arabidopsis. *Nat. Commun.* 13(1):244

- 167. Zhou S, Li X, Liu Q, Zhao Y, Jiang W, et al. 2021. DNA demethylases remodel DNA methylation in rice gametes and zygote and are required for reproduction. *Mol Plant.* 14(9):1569–83
- 168. Zhou X, Huang K, Teng C, Abdelgawad A, Batish M, et al. 2022. 24-nt phasiRNAs move from tapetal to meiotic cells in maize anthers. *New Phytol.* 235(2):488–501
- 169. Zilberman D, Gehring M, Tran RK, Ballinger T, Henikoff S. 2007. Genome-wide analysis of *Arabidopsis thaliana* DNA methylation uncovers an interdependence between methylation and transcription. *Nat. Genet.* 39(1):61–69

168. Shows evidence that 24-nt phasiRNAs move from the tapetum, where precursor RNAs are transcribed, to meiocytes and somatic cells in maize anthers.